ory gen



WELLBEING AT WORK

APPRENTICESHIPS AND MENTAL HEALTH

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Orygen would like to recognise young people, key organisations and individuals who informed the drafting of this policy report including the provision of information, advice, peer-review and feedback. Orygen would particularly like to acknowledge the Apprenticeship Employment Network (AEN) and MEGT Australia for their assistance in shaping the content of this report.

SUGGESTED CITATION

Boyle, C. Wellbeing at work: Apprenticeships and mental health. Melbourne: Orygen 2021.

© 2021 Orygen

This publication is copyright. Apart from use permitted under the Copyright Act 1968 and subsequent amendments, no part may be reproduced, stored or transmitted by any means without prior written permission of Orygen.

ISBN 978-1-920718-61-9

Orygen acknowledges the Traditional Owners of the lands we are on and pays respect to their Elders past and present. Orygen recognises and respects their cultural heritage, beliefs and relationships to Country, which continue to be important to the First Nations people living today.

Disclaimer This information is provided for general educational and information purposes only. It is current as at the date of publication and is intended to be relevant for all Australian states and territories (unless stated otherwise) and may not be applicable in other jurisdictions. Any diagnosis and/or treatment decisions in respect of an individual patient should be made based on your professional investigations and opinions in the context of the clinical circumstances of the patient. To the extent permitted by law, Orygen will not be liable for any loss or damage arising from your use of or reliance on this information. You rely on your own professional skill and judgement in conducting your own health care practice. Orygen does not endorse or recommend any products, treatments or services referred to in this information.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	4
Apprenticeships in Australia	4
DATA ON APPRENTICESHIPS IN AUSTRALIA	6
APPRENTICESHIPS AND MENTAL HEALTH	8
Bullying in apprenticeships	8
Workplace conditions	8
High risk apprentices	8
OPTIONS TO SUPPORT WELLBEING	10
Responding to workplace bullying	10
Mentoring and peer support	11
Employee assistance programs	11
Digital supports	11
Life-skills and resilience training	11
Implementation of wellbeing supports	12
REGULATION OF APPRENTICESHIPS	14
REFERENCES	16



INTRODUCTION

The point at which a young person transitions out of secondary school is a key juncture in their life. In general terms, it's a time when a young person faces choices around whether to continue with education or find employment.

An apprenticeship, that provides a young person with a qualification that combines training and experience, is one pathway option. However, while apprenticeships are an established pathway to employment, almost half of the young people who start apprenticeships will not complete them. One of the reasons for the low completion rate is that apprentices are exposed to situations that negatively impact their mental health and wellbeing.

Therefore, providing targeted and effective mental health supports could increase the likelihood of young people completing their apprenticeships.

APPRENTICESHIPS IN AUSTRALIA

Contemporary apprenticeships are generally facilitated by an Apprenticeship Network provider. The provider helps the potential apprentice enter into a contract with the employer through which the apprentice is provided on-the-job training. The apprentice is also linked with a registered Vocational Education and Training institution where further off-the-job training is provided. Typically, approximately 80 per cent of an apprentice's time is spent on-the-job with the remainder in college or TAFE.(1)

Upon completion of the training contract, the relevant training agency or government department provides a completion or trade certificate and the apprentice is recognised as a tradesperson. The amount of time taken to complete an apprenticeship differs depending on the industry. Generally, three to four years in traditional industries, for example plumbing, carpentry, welding, and over a two year period in the service-oriented occupations such as hospitality.

Apprenticeships can be full time, part time or school-based. School-based apprenticeships are available for secondary school students who get on-the-job training towards a formal qualification while still completing their school studies.



DATA ON APPRENTICESHIPS IN AUSTRALIA

There were 183,180 apprentices in Australia as of 31 March 2020,(2) with high attrition rates among young people who commence them. Data from the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER) indicates that approximately 44 per cent of apprentices who commence an apprenticeship will not complete it. A further 11 per cent of trade-based apprentices will not complete their apprenticeship with the original employer. The majority of apprentices who leave do so in the first year, approximately a third of them leave within the first year.

There are certain factors which can exacerbate attrition in employment. It has been noted that young men, who comprise the majority of apprentices, have higher rates of attrition.

(3) Completion rates also vary according to employers, with larger government employers having less attrition than small employers, which suggests there may be more issues with working conditions among small employers.(4, 5)

Employment satisfaction has the largest effect on completion rates for young people. 80 per cent of those who completed their apprenticeship were satisfied with their employment experience overall, while only 42 per cent of non-completers reported being satisfied.

(5) The primary reasons for dissatisfaction or incompletion were problems with the employment experience, including poor working conditions, lack of appropriate supervision and training, being treated as 'cheap labour', and interpersonal difficulties with the boss or colleagues, including bullying and abuse.(5)

"Completing an apprenticeship wasn't worth it to me. I was unhappy"

YOUNG PERSON

While there are isolated studies examining why apprentices leave, there is a need for consistent, ongoing data collection on the reasons for apprentices' non-completion. NCVER maintains strong quantitative data, but there is a need for qualitative data on the reasons behind incompletion. Longitudinal research that annually tracks apprentices progress is required to understand why apprentices do not complete their apprenticeships and the degree to which mental ill-health plays a role. This research would aid the development of policy responses supporting apprentices' wellbeing.

POLICY SOLUTION

The National Centre for Vocational Education Research coordinate a national longitudinal research study of the experiences of apprentices. The study should include the mental wellbeing of apprentices, workplace culture, experiences of employers supporting apprentices with mental ill-health and a better understanding of factors behind non-completion. A minimum of five year study would be required, with at least two cohorts of apprentices for the length of their apprenticeship with biannual follow-ups of individual apprentices.



APPRENTICESHIPS AND MENTAL HEALTH

A recent review of mental ill-health among apprentices identified five key reasons why apprentices faced a reduced sense of wellbeing and potential mental ill-health – bullying, long hours, low wages, job insecurity and unrealistic expectations.(6) Orygen's consultation with young people completing apprenticeships further found that these key reasons were regularly the cause of young people experiencing mental ill-health while completing their apprenticeship.

BULLYING IN APPRENTICESHIPS

Bullying and abuse is one of the major risks to the mental health and wellbeing of apprentices. A study of trade industries by Safe Work Australia Workplace found that 39 per cent of mental disorder claims were caused by harassment, bullying or exposure to violence.(7) Young workers were particularly susceptible, with16 per cent more likely to be compensated for anxiety or stress disorders and over half more likely to have a mental disorder claim as a result of exposure to workplace or occupational violence compared to older workers.(7)

A 2020 survey of Queensland construction industry apprentices found that just over 27 per cent had experienced bullying in the past 6 months.(8) Previously, surveys of apprentices who did not complete their apprenticeship found that for a quarter of apprentices, bullying was a factor in deciding to withdraw from their apprenticeship.(9)

"I was bullied at work ... I was worried that if I said anything I may be forced to leave" The Productivity Commission in their final report on mental health have identified that apprentices may be considered 'soft targets' due to an imbalance of power and status and limited potential to defend themselves. It has been noted that apprentices struggle to fit in and higher members of the hierarchy can be seen as inaccessible.(6, 10)

WORKPLACE CONDITIONS

Apprentices often face long working days. Working long days has a compounding impact on a young person's wellbeing and has negative consequences for study, sleep, diet and social connection.

Apprentices are also more likely to experience financial stress due to their comparatively low pay. An extended period of low wages can undermine confidence and create a sense of urgency to obtain the qualification as quickly as possible.(6)

Lastly, apprentices are more likely to be provided responsibilities beyond their level of knowledge with impractical deadlines. Pressures due to unrealistic expectations in the workplace can have a detrimental impact on mental health that could also lead to bullying, as the apprentice may be perceived as not completing the requested tasks.(6)

HIGH RISK APPRENTICES

Research indicates that the mental health of young people is further jeopardised if they join male-dominated "blue-collar" industries. These industries and trade-related occupations tend to exacerbate psychological distress through risk factors including poor working conditions, work stress and psychosocial factors such as unsupportive workplace relationships.(11)

Apprentices in male-dominated industries have also been found to have the highest prevalence of risky alcohol and other drug (AOD) use.(12) Variations in AOD use among workgroups are also influenced by poor working conditions, work stress and workplace psychosocial factors.(13)

There is also evidence that male-dominated industries such as the construction industry have increased suicide rates among people within that industry.(14) Similarly, a study of suicide in the Queensland construction industry found that workplace psychosocial factors played a contributory role in the increased rates of suicide among people working in the construction industry.(15)

Australian construction apprentices are a high risk group for poor mental health with relatively high levels of psychological distress. Construction apprentices had significantly higher mean score for psychological distress when compared to Australians of similar age and gender.(16)

One approach which has been tailored to construction apprentices is MATES in Construction. MATES is supported by the Australian Government to provide a local care program on construction sites. A five year review of the MATES program has noted a slight relative decline in the suicide rates of men within the Queensland construction industry.(17) However, this study did note that they could not draw a causal relationship between MATES and that slight reduction.

OPTIONS TO SUPPORT WELLBEING

As highlighted earlier, there are a range of workplace experiences which can increase the risk of mental ill-health among young people undertaking apprenticeships. This section will outline and examine programs and models which aim to support wellbeing among apprentices. This will focus upon anti-bullying programs, mentoring and peer support, Employee Assistance Program, digital supports, and resilience training.

RESPONDING TO WORKPLACE BULLYING

Workplace bullying is a common issue faced by young people in apprenticeships. Bullying in the workplace is generally reflective of cultural issues within that workplace/industry and requires a workplace/industry wide response to minimise the risk of bullying occurring.(18)

The traditional approach of formally reporting bullying has been shown to be ineffective and can lead to increased harm. Instead, educational interventions which promote professional conduct in the workplace have been shown to be effective.(19) One limitation of educational interventions is they do not provide in-themoment assistance to a person who is dealing with bullying.

A further approach to protect the victims of bullying involves cognitive rehearsal of responses to common workplace bullying behaviours. This approach provides apprentices with basic bullying information and a safe environment to learn and practice responses toward bullying behaviours through cooperative group work, building confidence in workplace bullying management.(20)

Organisational leadership style is also related to workplace bullying. Both authoritarian and laissez-faire' leadership patterns were strongly related to workplace bullying while 'democratic' leadership styles—such as supportive, authentic, transformational and fair leadership—protected the organisation against bullying.(21) As such, there is value in considering the provision of leadership training to organisations who employ apprentices.

The approaches outlined are promising, yet have not been tested for apprentices. As such, there is an opportunity to examine how these approaches could be tailored to apprentices in Australia.

POLICY SOLUTION

Safe Work Australia be commissioned to review anti-bullying approaches and develop best practice training and awareness materials. This review will be informed by stakeholder perspectives and use a co-design approach to developing an anti-bullying model.

Development of training and awareness materials would include trial and evaluation of the impact on wellbeing and mental health in the long- and short-term. This trial should be followed by national implementation across Apprenticeship Network providers.

MENTORING AND PEER SUPPORT

Common approaches to supporting wellbeing among apprentices include the development of mentoring and/or peer programs. In general, mentor programs take two forms. Hierarchical mentoring that involves someone with more experience, guiding someone with less, and peer mentoring that involves guidance from people who have the same or similar levels of experience. (22) (22)

A study of small to large construction firms by NCVER found that structured mentor-like programs were in place on most of the organisations studied.(22) These programs have been found to be for effective for apprentices, if the mentors or peers are identifiable to the young people.(23) It is also vital that young people are supported to communicate with their mentor or peer, as young apprentices place a heightened value on open communication. (24),(25)

"I learned a lot from other people who had completed apprenticeships"

While there is value in promoting mentoring and peer programs, more research is needed to identify and evaluate how mentoring and peer support programs can be optimised to support the mental health and wellbeing for young people.

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

An Employee Assistance Program (EAP) is a work-based intervention program designed to enhance the emotional, mental and general psychological wellbeing of all employees and includes services for immediate family members. (26) They differ from mentoring and peer approaches by providing an independent, outside voice to support employees in the event of mental ill-health. (26) EAP programs are resource intensive and are therefore most often provided by larger employers and group organisations which have access to EAP.

A systematic review in 2018 found that utilising EAPs enhanced employee outcomes in certain measures, specifically improved levels of presenteeism and functioning.(27) Yet, there is little information on how EAPs impact other measures, including wellbeing and productivity. There is also limited evidence on the effectiveness of EAP for apprentices.

Further research is needed to evaluate how EAP programs can be optimised for young people in apprenticeships, as there is also little evidence examining uptake rates of EAP by apprentices.

DIGITAL SUPPORTS

Digital supports are an accessible means of delivering wellbeing support options for apprentices. The use of mental health programs delivered online (eHealth) and via mobile technology (mHealth), can overcome barriers to young people receiving mental health information and support.(28)

While there are a range of digital mental health supports, there are few tailored to apprentices. One example is the mental health app, HeadGear, a tailored eHealth program for apprentices. An initial study of the app found that there was a positive qualitative response from the apprentices surveyed but limited quantitative evidence on the effectiveness of the program.(28)

An example of a digital support for young people is the Moderated Online Social Therapy (MOST) platform, which offers continuous, integrated face-to-face and digital care to young people accessing certain mental health services. Evaluations of the MOST platform have found that it has been successfully adapted for young people with a range of mental health concerns. (29-32)

Another digital platform for mental health support is eheadspace, which provides online and telephone support and counselling to young people. Early analysis of eheadspace has found that it is effective in reaching a unique client group who may not otherwise seek help and is associated with strong user satisfaction.(33, 34)

For each of the other digital supports outlined above, there is an opportunity to examine how impactful digital supports can be for young people completing apprenticeships. Such a study would lead towards new opportunities to use these supports to aid apprentices.

LIFE-SKILLS AND RESILIENCE TRAINING

Consultation with apprenticeship providers has suggested that resilience or life-skills training could be another beneficial approach to promote the wellbeing of young apprentices.

One such course is the Victorian Automobile Chamber of Commerce's life-skills course for apprentices. This course is provided during induction and includes training on mental health, alcohol and drugs, financial skills and communication skills with regular follow up training

Life-skills and resilience programs potentially have a protective effect against the negative aspects of apprenticeships. Resilience interventions based on a combination of cognitive-behavioural therapy and mindfulness

techniques appear to have a positive impact on individual resilience.(35)

There is emerging evidence demonstrating the effectiveness of online ehealth interventions, which target resilience in the workplace.(35) However, further trials into these training courses is recommended to ensure these courses meet the needs of young people.

IMPLEMENTATION OF WELLBEING SUPPORTS

For each of the possible wellbeing supports outlined, there is an opportunity for further research into their applicability for young people completing apprenticeships.

There are two key steps to support the development of this improved evidence base. The first is to develop a clear plan providing strategic guidance to employers and apprenticeship providers on how to support the mental health of apprentices. An equivalent example of this approach can be seen with National Mental Health and Wellbeing Roadmap

for the road transport, warehousing and logistics industries developed by the Healthy Heads in Trucks & Sheds Foundation and supported by the Australian Government.(36) The heavy vehicle industry needed to address concerns around employee wellbeing, and the roadmap outlines a path forward for all parties.

Secondly, and concurrently, there is a need for trials of government funded wellbeing approaches at selected employers and apprenticeship providers to examine how wellbeing supports can be made accessible for apprentices. To provide the greatest benefit to apprentices, these trials should initially be offered to small and medium sized businesses.

Larger companies tend to have greater financial and human resources. Further, larger employers tend to have less attrition among apprentices than small employers.(4) Research by Jobs Queensland found that larger firms with more than 50 employees, a human resources department and have been in operation for longer than ten years have higher retention and completion rates than very small businesses with few staff.(37).

POLICY SOLUTION

The Department of Education, Skills and Employment develop, in consultation with employers and apprenticeship providers, a pathway to supporting the mental health and wellbeing of apprentices. This will outline the options available for employers to best support apprentice wellbeing.

Trials of wellbeing supports in selected small and medium businesses who employ apprentices will inform development of the roadmap. A minimum of 50 businesses be funded to implement one of the following wellbeing supports for a period of two years:

- peer support trialled at a minimum of four businesses, with at least 40 total apprentices;
- mentoring programs trialled at a minimum of four businesses, with at least 40 total apprentices;
- EAP trialled at a minimum of three businesses, with at least 30 total apprentices;
- · digital supports trialled at a minimum of five businesses, with at least 50 total apprentices; and
- life-skills and resilience training trialled at a minimum of two businesses, with at least 20 total apprentices.

Trial sites should be selected through a public tender process. The selection of the businesses should comprise (1) a range of small and medium size organisations; (2) in metropolitan and regional centres; and (3) represent the breadth of industries employing apprentices.

The Department of Education, Skills and Employment will evaluate apprentice awareness and use of these wellbeing supports and publicly report their findings.



REGULATION OF APPRENTICESHIPS

The states and territories are primarily responsible for regulating the employment and conditions of apprentices in Australia. Each state and territory has their own governing legislation and compliance entity. The Australian Government developed the National Code of Good Practice for Australian Apprenticeships – the Apprenticeships Code – to provide a common set of obligations designed to form the basis of any agreement between an apprentice and an employer.

Through the Apprenticeships Code, the Australian Government has a potential mechanism to improve the experiences of apprentices and support their mental health. The Apprenticeships Code requires that the employer will provide 'a safe workplace, free from bullying and verbal, physical, racial and sexual abuse' and

will ensure that 'all occupational health and safety requirements are addressed'. While the provision of a 'safe' workplace does include protection of mental health, there should be a more explicit reference to the need to promote mental wellbeing among apprentices.

There are two primary ways in which this could occur. Firstly, the code could make specific reference to the systemic factors which lead to mental ill-health among apprentices – notably working conditions and bullying – and specifically provide that employers must reasonably endeavour to respond to these potential systemic risks. Secondly, the Apprenticeships Code could be used to provide best practice examples of how an employer or an organisation can promote wellbeing among apprentices.

POLICY SOLUTION

Complete an efficacy review of the National Code of Good Practice for Australian Apprenticeships. Key objectives for the review will:

- consider how the national code can be amended to provide for greater reference to supporting mental wellbeing among apprentices;
- determine whether the national code enables mitigation of differences in the states and territories regulation of apprentices;
- examine how the national code can respond to existing systemic flaws within the apprenticeships system, and help support apprentices' mental health; and
- determine whether the national code can be supported by guidance material outlining best practice approaches for mental health supports for apprentices.

This efficacy review is to occur following the aforementioned trials of wellbeing supports to ensure the review reflects this additional evidence.



REFERENCES

- Knight B. Evolution of apprenticeships and traineeships in Australia: an unfinished history. Occasional Paper: ERIC; 2012.
- National Centre for Vocational Education Research. Australian vocational education and training statistics: completion and attrition rates for apprentices and trainees 2019. 2020.
- Delfabbro P, Winefield H, Winefield A, Malvaso C, Plueckhahn T. Factors associated with attrition in a 10-year longitudinal study of young people: implications for studies of employment in school leavers. Australian Psychologist. 2017;52(1):41-51.
- Karmel T, Roberts D. The role of 'culture' in apprenticeship completions: National Centre for Vocational Education Research; 2012.
- Bednarz A, Bednarz A. Understanding the non-completion of apprentices: National Centre for Vocational Education Research; 2014
- Einboden R, Choi I, Ryan R, Petrie K, Johnston D, Harvey SB, et al. 'Having a thick skin is essential': mental health challenges for young apprentices in Australia. Journal of Youth Studies. 2020:1-17.
- Safe Work Australia. Work-related mental disorders profile. Canberra: Safe Work Australia. 2015.
- Ross V, Wardhani R, Kolves K. The impact of workplace bullying on mental health and suicidality in Queensland construction industry apprentices. Australian Institute for Suicide Research and Prevention, https://mates.org.au/media/documents/Mates-QLD-Apprentice-Report-2020-POMO pdf. 2020.
- Cully M, Curtain R. Reasons for new apprentices' noncompletions: 2001.
- Productivity Commission. Inquiry report on mental health. Canberra; 2020.
- Battams S, Roche AM, Fischer JA, Lee NK, Cameron J, Kostadinov V. Workplace risk factors for anxiety and depression in maledominated industries: a systematic review. Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine: An Open Access Journal. 2014;2(1):983-1008.
- Berry JG, Pidd K, Roche AM, Harrison JE. Prevalence and patterns of alcohol use in the Australian workforce: findings from the 2001 National Drug Strategy Household Survey. Addiction. 2007;102(9):1399-410.
- Pidd KJ, Roche AM. Changing workplace culture: an integrated model for the prevention and treatment of alcohol-related problems. Oxford University Press; 2008.
- Milner A, Niven H, LaMontagne A. Suicide by occupational skill level in the Australian construction industry: data from 2001 to 2010. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 2014;38(3):281-5.
- Heller TS, Hawgood JL, Leo DD. Correlates of suicide in building industry workers. Archives of Suicide Research. 2007;11(1):105-17.
- Pidd K, Duraisingam V, Roche A, Trifonoff A. Young construction workers: substance use, mental health, and workplace psychosocial factors. Advances in Dual Diagnosis. 2017.
- Martin G, Swannell S, Milner A, Gullestrup J. Mates in construction suicide prevention program: a five year review. J Community Med Health Educ. 2016;6(465):2161-0711.1000465.
- Doran C, Rebar A, Waters MK, Meredith P, Doran C. A review of the evidence related to the impacts of, and interventions for, workplace bullying in the construction industry. 2020.
- Halim U, Riding D. Systematic review of the prevalence, impact and mitigating strategies for bullying, undermining behaviour and harassment in the surgical workplace. British Journal of Surgery. 2018;105(11):1390-7.
- Stagg SJ, Sheridan D. Effectiveness of bullying and violence prevention programs: a systematic review. Aaohn Journal. 2010;58(10):419-24.
- Feijó FR, Gräf DD, Pearce N, Fassa AG. Risk factors for workplace bullying: a systematic review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2019;16(11):1945.
- Buchanan J, Raffaele C, Glozier N, Kanagaratnam A. Beyond mentoring: social support structures for young Australian carpentry apprentices. Research report: ERIC; 2016.
- Raposa EB, Rhodes J, Stams GJJ, Card N, Burton S, Schwartz S, et al. The effects of youth mentoring programs: a metaanalysis of outcome studies. Journal of Youth and Adolescence. 2019;48(3):423-43.

- Tucker S, Diekrager D, Turner N, Kelloway EK. Work-related injury underreporting among young workers: prevalence, gender differences, and explanations for underreporting. Journal of Safety Research. 2014;50:67–73.
- Breslin FC, Polzer J, MacEachen E, Morrongiello B, Shannon H. Workplace injury or "part of the job"?: Towards a gendered understanding of injuries and complaints among young workers. Social Science & Medicine. 2007;64(4):782-93.
- Brooks CD, Ling J. "Are we doing enough": An examination of the utilization of employee assistance programs to support the mental health needs of employees during the COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of Insurance Regulation. 2020;39(8).
- Joseph B, Walker A, Fuller-Tyszkiewicz M. Evaluating the
 effectiveness of employee assistance programmes: a systematic
 review. European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology.
 2018;27(1):1-15.
- 28. Deady M, Glozier N, Collins D, Einboden R, Lavender I, Wray A, et al. The utility of a mental health app in apprentice workers: A pilot study. Frontiers in Public Health. 2020;8:389.
- Alvarez-Jimenez M, Rice S, D'Alfonso S, Leicester S, Bendall S, Pryor I, et al. A novel multimodal digital service (moderated online social therapy+) for help-seeking young people experiencing mental ill-health: pilot evaluation within a national youth e-mental health service. Journal of Medical Internet Research. 2020;22(8):e17155.
- Alvarez-Jimenez M, Bendall S, Koval P, Rice S, Cagliarini D, Valentine L, et al. HORYZONS trial: protocol for a randomised controlled trial of a moderated online social therapy to maintain treatment effects from first-episode psychosis services. BMJ Open. 2019;9(2):e024104.
- Rice S, O'Bree B, Wilson M, McEnery C, Lim MH, Hamilton M, et al. Leveraging the social network for treatment of social anxiety: pilot study of a youth-specific digital intervention with a focus on engagement of young men. Internet Interventions. 2020;20:100323.
- 32. Gleeson J, Lederman R, Koval P, Wadley G, Bendall S, Cotton S, et al. Moderated online social therapy: A model for reducing stress in carers of young people diagnosed with mental health disorders. Frontiers in Psychology. 2017;8:485.
- Rickwood D, Webb M, Kennedy V, Telford N. Who are the young people choosing web-based mental health support? Findings from the implementation of Australia's national web-based youth mental health service, eHeadspace. JMIR Mental Health. 2016;3(3):e40.
- Rickwood D, Wallace A, Kennedy V, O'Sullivan S, Telford N, Leicester S. Young people's satisfaction with the online mental health service eHeadspace: development and implementation of a service satisfaction measure. JMIR Mental Health. 2019:6(4):e12169.
- 35. Joyce S, Shand F, Tighe J, Laurent SJ, Bryant RA, Harvey SB. Road to resilience: a systematic review and meta-analysis of resilience training programmes and interventions. BMJ Open. 2018;8(6).
- Healthy Heads Trucks & Sheds. National mental health and wellbeing roadmap. Canberra; 2021.
- Jobs Queensland. Positive futures: apprenticeships and traineeships in Queensland, discussion paper. November; 2016.







IF YOU'D LIKE MORE INFORMATION ABOUT ORYGEN, PLEASE CALL +61 3 9966 9100 OR SEND AN EMAIL TO INFO@ORYGEN.ORG.AU

ORYGEN.ORG.AU

35 POPLAR ROAD PARKVILLE VIC 3052 AUSTRALIA









